1952

# Ronald Ralph Olsen v. Sheldon T. Warwood et al : Brief of Plaintiff and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiff brought this action against the defendants to recover a judgment against the defendants because of personal injuries sustained by the plaintiff being run over by

a school bus owned by the Board of Education of the Alpine School District and operated by the defendant, Sheldon T. Warwood. The injury occurred on February 17, 1949, at about 12:30 p.m. about four miles north of Provo, Utah County, Utah, as or just after the plaintiff alighted from a school bus belonging to the defendant school district.

There is no conflict in the evidence as to the existence of the following facts:

At the time involved in this litigation the Board of Education of the Alpine School District owned and operated a school bus which was used to transport school pupils to and from school (Tr. 128); On February 17th, 1949, just after 12:00 o'clock noon, the defendant Sheldon T. Warwood, who was employed to operate one of the school buses of the defendant Board of Education, pursuant to his duty called at the Page or Edgemont School and there took on a bus load of six-year-old school children, among whom was the plaintiff in this action (Tr. 58, 83, 138).

The defendant, Sheldon T. Warwood, stopped the bus near the Edgemont Church for the purpose of permitting some of the children, including the plaintiff, to get off the bus. Immediately after the plaintiff alighted from the bus he was run over by the rear dual wheels of the bus and sustained very serious injuries which left him in the hospital for 19 days and confined him in bed until the later part of May, or more than three months (Tr. 111). The nature and extent of the injury sustained by the plaintiff was described in detail by one of the attending doctors. A number of X-rays were taken of the injuries which were received in evidence (Tr. 7 to 21).



There is a conflict in the evidence as to the exact location and condition of the place where the plaintiff was injured, and also as to the facts and circumstances that existed immediately before he was injured.

Plaintiff called as witnesses two of the children who were on the bus and who claimed that they saw how the plaintiff was injured. One of such witnesses was the plaintiff and the other was Marjorie Ferguson, both of whom were six years old at the time in question and both of whom were examined by the court as to their competency to testify. The examinations made by the court as to competency of the plaintiff to testify will be found in Tr. 53-57. The examination of the court as to the competency of the witness, Marjorie Ferguson to testify will be found in Tr. 77 to 81. To enable this Court to pass upon what plaintiff claims was prejudicial error in giving certain instructions to the jury, it will be necessary for the Court to have in mind the evidence touching the manner in which it is claimed by the parties that the injury to the plaintiff was brought about.

The plaintiff, in substance, testified:

That on February 17, 1949, about five minutes after 12 oclock noon, the defendant picked up the plaintiff and other children to take them home. That the bus arrived at the Edgemont Church about 12:30; that Mr. Warwood was in the front of the bus on the left hand side driving the bus (Tr. 58); that at the time plaintiff got out of the bus there were three or four children on the bus, including the plaintiff (Tr. 59); that before the plaintiff went to get off he was sitting on the bus right behind the driver; that Marjorie Ferguson was sitting on the right hand side near the front (Tr. 60); that the day he was hurt the bus stopped in front of the Edgemont Church; that there was snow on



the ground; that when Mr. Warwood stopped the bus at the church he said, "Hurry and get out, I have got some more kids to pick up today." That when the bus stopped Lewis got out and then Shirley got out, and then I went to get out. While I was getting a good footing he took off (Tr. 61). But he had only one foot out when he took off and "I spun around and flew under the bus, and then I tried to get out from under it."

Q. "Well how did you try to get out from under it?"

A. "Dig my heels in the ice and push myself out."

Q. "Then what happened as you were pushing yourself to get out from under the bus?"

A. "The wheels passed over me."

Q. "Which wheels?"

A. "The dual wheels on the back."

That Mr Warwood picked him up and put him in the bus after he was run over (Tr. 62). That when he got home Warwood carried him in the house and when he took him in the house his mother was there and Mr. Warwood stated to his mother that the child had been hit by the bus and "I told you kids to stay away from the bus," and mother said, in substance, "Well, I don't think that it is necessary to discuss that right now, I think the important thing is to contact his father and get an appointment with the doctor (Tr. 64 and 74). On cross-examination he testified that at the time he was injured he was not running towards the bus and trying to catch hold of the side of it (Tr. 75).

Marjorie Ferguson was called as a witness by the plaintiff, and testified in part as follows: That she remembers the day that plaintiff was hurt; that Mr. Warwood stopped in front of the Edgemont Church to let plaintiff out (Tr.

85). But when he stopped Mr. Warwood said something like this, "Hurry and get off here, I have other loads to get or other children to pick up, or something like that, I don't remember." That Shirley Cluff got off first, and then Louis Ivie and then Ronny (plaintiff). That she was sitting by the railing at the first seat from the door where you go out; that she could see the steps that are used in going out of the bus from where she sat; that she saw Ronny (plaintiff) as he was leaving the bus; that he wasn't completely off the step when Mr. Warwood started up; that she saw him grab for the bus, I guess brace himself to pull his other leg out, but the bus started up and such a jolt I guess he didn't quite have time and the bus run over him (Tr. 86). That she saw him lying on the ground after the bus run over him (Tr. 87); that when she saw Ronny (plaintiff) fall she said, "Oh, there is Ronny"; that she felt a bump after the bus started up, "I said what was that?" and Mr. Warwood said, "I don't know," and then she poked her head out of the window and saw plaintiff lying on the ice and snow (Tr. 88). Marjorie Ferguson was recalled and testified that on the day that the plaintiff was injured the snow where the bus stopped was higher than me, and that the snow bank was a little bit farther than the length of her arm from the bus door (Tr. 102). The plaintiff was also recalled and testified that where he got off the bus the snow was about 30 inches high (Tr. 104) and that the snow bank was about the length of his arm from the bus (Tr. 105).

Ralph E. Olsen, the guardian ad litem of the plaintiff, testified that he went to the place where the plaintiff was injured on the night of the day that he was injured. That the snow had been pushed back from the highway and was

so high that you couldn't stand and jump over it in lots of places (Tr. 24). That there was a raise of a foot or ten inches; that the snow was a good two feet deep in front of the Leo Hansen property (Tr. 27). That in front of the church the snow was about 15 inches high built up against the fence (Tr. 28).

The defendant, Sheldon T. Warwood, testified in part as follows: That on February 17th, 1949, a little after 12 o'clock, he picked up some children at the Edgemont school, among them the plaintiff. That he stopped at Stubbs Lane where he let Ronald and the other two, the boy and the girl, out, that the snow at the Stubbs Lane had been pushed back so the people could go up that road (Tr. 138). That he told the children to get clear of the bus; that he opened the door for the children to get out and they were standing a good five feet away from the bus when he closed the door to start up again; that as he turned to go out on the highway he looked through the side view mirror to see if there was any oncoming traffic. When he did so he could see somebody laying on the ground; at that time I thought they was fighting, when kids start fighting we try to stop them. That there was the boy and girl standing there by him; that he stopped the bus and went to where the plaintiff was laying and picked him up and carried him to the bus and took him home; that when he picked plaintiff up, he said the bus ran over him (Tr. 140). Mr. Warwood denied that he reprimanded the plaintiff, as testified to by his mother (Tr. 179).

The evidence further shows that the bus that was being driven by the defendant Warwood at the time plaintiff was injured was 29 feet 5 inches long. It was painted yellow; it is a full 7 feet 10 inches wide, the sides are 18 inches

and the lower step used in going in and out of the bus is 12 inches from the ground (Tr. 155). A number of photographs which defendant Warwood claims to have taken of the place where the accident occurred on Feb. 20, after the accident were offered and received in evidence, as were also a number of pictures of the bus that was being used at the time the plaintiff was injured.

Shirley Cluff, a witness, called by the defendant, testified in part as follows:

Q. "Do you recall the day that Ronny Olsen was hurt by the bus?"

A. "I know that he was hurt, but I can't remember, hardly."

Q. "What can you remember about it?"

A. "I can remember the winter that the bus stopped by the church and I was way up there after he got run over." (Tr. 187).

Over objection of counsel for the plaintiff, counsel for the defendant was permitted to ask these questions on the claim that he was seeking to refresh her recollection (Tr. 189).

Q. "Now I want you to listen right close because what I am going to do right now is ask you as near as I can what I asked you then when you were home with your mother, and then I am going to repeat the answers that were taken down, as near as I can. Do you remember whether or not I asked you this? 'Shirley'—speaking to you that time, 'you didn't see him before the bus ran over him?' Now I am talking about Ronny. Now did you see him before the bus ran over him?' " (Witness shakes head).

Q. "Your answer is no to that?" (Witness nods head).

Q. "And then your answer to that, you said no, and then do you remember me asking you this question here: 'Was he holding onto the bus or trying to get hold of the bus?' and then you answered 'No, he was running towards it.' Do you remember telling me that he was running towards the bus just before the accident happened?"

A. "A huh uh."

Q. "And do you remember me asking you again—running towards the bus?"

A. "Yes."

Q. "And then I asked you this question, 'Do you know where he was running towards it?' and your answer 'No, he used to just hold it to slide and just slide along with it.' Do you remember telling me that? that he used to just hold it and slide?"

A. "Uh huh."

Q. "Your answer is yes to that?" (Witness nods head).

MR. HANSEN: May it please Your Honor, I don't know whether she really understands me here or not."

Q. "Had you seen Ronny hold onto the bus before and slide along with it when it started out?"

A. "I don't know whether he did, but there were some other kids done that" (Tr. 190).

On cross-examination, she testified that she did not see Ronny hanging onto the back of the bus the day he was hurt; that when she got off the bus she walked to the front of the bus and that she didn't go back to where Ronny was hurt (Tr. 192).

We, of course, are mindful that it is not the province of this Court in this case to pass upon the weight that should

be given the evidence, and we have cited the foregoing testimony for the purpose of directing the attention of the Court to the testimony (viewed most favorably to the defendant) upon which the trial court gave certain instructions to the jury which we contend were erroneous and prejudicial to the plaintiff.

The plaintiff seeks a reversal of the judgment appealed from and the order refusing to grant plaintiff a new trial upon the following grounds:

### **POINT ONE**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE TO THE JURY PLAINTIFF'S REQUEST NUMBERED 1 (R. 72 and 199) AND IN GIVING IN LIEU THEREOF INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 4 AND 5 (R. 90 and 91).

### **POINT TWO**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING THAT PART OF INSTRUCTION NUMBERED 7 WHEREIN THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED THAT "IN OTHER WORDS, YOU CANNOT RETURN A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF AND AGAINST THE DEFENDANT UNLESS THE NUMBER OF JURORS REQUIRED TO REACH A VERDICT AGREE UPON THE SAME ACT OR UPON THE SAME FAILURE OR FAILURES TO ACT." (R. 201-202 and 225).

### **POINT THREE**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING TO THE JURY THAT PART OF INSTRUCTION NUMBERED 9 WHEREIN THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED THAT "IF,



THEREFORE YOU FIND FROM THE EVIDENCE THAT AFTER THE PLAINTIFF RONALD OLSEN AND THE OTHER CHILDREN HAD BEEN DISCHARGED FROM SAID VEHICLE AND THAT THEREAFTER WHEN SAID VEHICLE STARTED IN MOTION RONALD OLSEN RAN TOWARDS THE SIDE OF THE BUS NEAR THE RIGHT WHEEL AT A TIME AND IN A PLACE WHERE DEFENDANT COULD NOT SEE HIM——” (R. 202-204 and 224).

#### POINT FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING ITS INSTRUCTION NUMBERED 11 (R 204 and 226).

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT ONE

Plaintiff requested the trial court to include in its instructions to the jury the following:

“You are instructed, members of the jury, that it was the duty of the defendant to exercise a high degree of care to enable the plaintiff to alight and get from the bus in safety. The degree of care required is such as a very prudent, careful and competent person would exercise under similar circumstances. A failure to exercise such care constitutes negligence” (R. 72).

In lieu of the requested instruction the court instructed the jury that the defendant was required to use such care as a reasonable and prudent person would use under like conditions and circumstances (Instruction No. 9, R. 94-95).



There is some conflict in the authorities as to the degree of care that is required of the driver of a school bus. Some of the cases hold that the driver of a school bus is a private carrier and as such is required to use only ordinary care. Such is the holding of the District Court of Appeals of California. *Shannon et al v. Central Gaither Union School District*, 23 Pac. (2d) 769. *Foster v. Elmer*, 158 Pac. (2d) 978. So far as we are able to ascertain, the question has not been decided by the Supreme Court of California..

On the other hand, it is held by the Supreme Court of Washington in the case of *Phillips v. Hardgrove et al*, 161 Wash. 121; 296 Pac. 559, that upon grounds of public policy and in conformity with principles of law applicable to common carriers and to operators of elevators that the operator of a school bus is required to exercise the highest degree of care. In the Washington case just cited, the court quotes at some length from other cases from Washington and from the Supreme Court of the United States wherein it is held that a common carrier of passengers is held to the highest degree of care consistent with the practical operation of the means of transportation being used.

Some of the cases dealing with the question of the degree of care required of the driver of a school bus seem to take a somewhat middle ground. For example, in the case of *Burnett v. Allen*, 114 Fla. 489; 154 So. 515, it is said that the driver of a school bus is required "to use every reasonable precaution and care for the safety of such children as to prevent any harm or danger to them." While such language is not the same as that sanctioned by the authorities in instructing a jury as to the degree of care required of a common carrier, the effect thereof is substantially the

same. It is, of course, the general rule that greater care is required where children of tender years are involved than in the case of adults.

It will be noted that in the instructions given in this case, the court merely instructed the jury that they could, among other matters, take into consideration the age of the children. Such instruction, however, did not enlighten the jury as to what, if any, additional care the driver of the bus was required to take because the children he was transporting were only six years of age

The law is well settled that a common carrier of passengers is required to use a high degree of care for the safety of its passengers. The degree of care has been variously expressed as "a high degree of care," "the highest degree of care, prudence and foresight the greatest possible care and diligence," "the utmost care and diligence," "extraordinary care and caution." See 13 C. J. S. Sec. 678, pp. 1255-56, and cases there cited.

This Court is committed to such doctrine. *Taylor v. Bamberger Electric R. Co.*, 62 Utah 552; 220 Pac. 695. *Christensen v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 35 Utah 137; 99 Pac. 676. The same doctrine is thus stated in 10 Am. Jur., page 163, Sec. 1245:

"In general, however, carriers of passengers are required to exercise the highest degree of care, vigilance and precaution for the safety of those it undertakes to transport, and is liable for the slightest negligence."

Numerous cases which support the text are collected in foot notes to the text above quoted. The same degree of care required of common carriers is required of the op-

erators of elevators. 13 C. J. S., page 1270, Sec. 687, and cases there cited. It is there said:

“While the owner of a passenger elevator operated in a building for carrying persons up and down may not be a carrier of passengers in the sense that he is bound to serve the public, yet his duty as to protecting the passengers in his elevator from danger is the same as that applicable to common carriers of passengers by other means, and he is bound to do all that human care, negligence and foresight can reasonably suggest under the circumstances and in view of the character of the mode of conveyance adopted, to guard against accident and injuries resulting therefrom and a failure in this respect will constitute negligence rendering him liable.” See also 13 C. J. S., page 1386, Sec. 734.

We have a statute 1943, 75-7-24, which provides that:

“The minimum uniform educational program to be provided in the various districts of the state shall include a school term of nine months; the employment of legally certified teachers; the transportation to and from school of all pupils living more than two and one-half miles from school, or provision towards such transportation of an amount equal to the allowance thereafter made for the apportionment of the equalization fund.”

Provision is made in U. C. A., 1943, 75-7-27, for payment out of taxes the expenses of transporting children to and from school.

While we do not contend and in our objections to the refusal of the court to give the requested instruction touching the degree of care required of the driver of a school bus, we did not claim that the operator of a school bus is

a common carrier within the meaning of our Public Utilities Act (U. C. A., 1943, 76-4-25). We do most earnestly contend that every reason that has prompted the courts to require common carriers to exercise a very high degree of care in transporting passengers is applicable to the driver of a school bus that is engaged in carrying children six years of age to and from school.

The fact that a school bus is not a common carrier certainly does not justify the conclusion reached by some courts that it is a private carrier. The principal distinction between a common carrier and a private carrier is that the former holds himself out as being willing to carry all who apply, while a private carrier is one who does not so hold himself out, but undertakes to render service pursuant to a special contract between the carrier and the person desiring the service. Generally the degree of care required of the two is not the same, although some authorities require the highest degree of care and skill for the safety of a passenger from a private carrier. *Mahony v. Kansas City R. Co.*, 254 S. W. 16; 286 Mo. 601; 228 S. W. 821.

The primary basis for distinguishing between the degree of care required of a common carrier and a private carrier seems to be that the former having held himself out as being able and willing to render service to all who apply, by such holding out, the law, on grounds of public policy requires such carrier to use the highest degree of care. The person who seeks the services of a public or common carrier may rely upon the fact that being a common or public carrier he has a right to demand the highest degree of care without the necessity of either making an investigation to ascertain whether or not such a carrier is competent or

entering into a contract that such carrier will use the highest degree of care.

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