1952

Ronald Ralph Olsen v. Sheldon T. Warwood et al : Brief of Defendants and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 AND CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON DEFENDANTS' DUTY.

In Point One of the argument plaintiff cites as error the refusal of the trial court to give his requested instructions to the effect that it was the duty of the defendant to exercise a high degree of care to enable the plaintiff to alight and get from the bus in safety and that the degree of care required is such as a very prudent, careful and competent person would exercise under similar circumstances.

The argument then goes on to cite a number of authorities all of which admittedly define the standard of care required of a common carrier and concludes with the argument that, irrespective of whether or not a school bus is a common carrier, the operator of a school bus should exercise a high degree of care for its passengers. The fallacy of the argument is three-fold; first, the defendant, school district, and the operator of the bus was not a common carrier; second, the court in its instructions to the jury properly instructed the jury upon the higher duty which would be owed to children of a tender age; and third, plaintiff's requested instruction added nothing to those given by the court.

A. The Driver of a School Bus is not a Common Carrier.

A public or common carrier is defined: "A public or common carrier of passengers is one which, as a regular business, undertakes for hire to carry all persons, within certain limitations, who may apply for passage, and holds itself out as engaged in such business." 13 CJS Section 530 page 1034.

"A 'Common Motor Carrier of Passengers' means any person who holds himself out to the public as willing to undertake for hire to transport by motor vehicle from place to place, persons who may choose to employ him." 76-5-13, Utah Code Annotated as amended.

As contradistinguished from this, "A private carrier of passengers is one who, without being engaged in such business as a public employment, undertakes to deliver passengers for hire or reward or even gratuitously." 13 CJS Section 531, Page 1036.

By statute "Contract Motor Carrier of Passengers means any person engaged in the transportation by motor vehicle of persons for hire, and not included in the term, motor carrier of passengers as hereinbefore defined." 76-5-13, Utah Code Annotated, as amended.

The distinguishing feature between the two callings is not that passengers are carried for hire, since this is true in either case, but that a common carrier is engaged in and holds itself out as engaged in the business of carrying passengers to any person or part of the public who may choose to employ it whereas this element is missing in the case of a private carrier.

In *State v. Nelson*, 65 Utah 457, a person who operated an automobile omnibus pursuant to contract with a camping association, in which he transported exclusively guests or prospective guests of the association, and their baggage, for an agreed daily wage, was held not to be a common or public carrier.

In this case defendant did not hold himself out as engaged in the business of a common carrier of passengers but rather transported students to and from school by reason of a private contract for a definite wage between him and the school district to carry only a very limited and predetermined group, that is, school students. (Tr. 127-128) There is no authority cited in which the operator of a school bus has been defined as and held to the standard of care required of a common carrier. On the other hand, there are a number of cases which have held the operator of a school bus is a private carrier and that ordinary prudence for the safety of children under similar circumstances is all that is required.

In the case of *Shannon et al v. Central-Gaitor Union School District et al*, a California case, 23 P2d 769, cited in appellant's brief, an action against a school district for injuries to a child of ten and one-half years who was injured while leaving a school bus and crossing a road, the court said:

"We are of the opinion that a bus which is operated only for the convenience of a particular school under the circumstances of this case is a mere private carrier as distinguished from a common carrier, and that the ordinary prudence for the safety of children under similar circumstances

is all that is required of the district or the driver of the bus.”

This case was followed in *Foster v. Einer* (Calif.) 158 P2d 978.

In the case of *Gaudette v. McGlauklin* (New Hampshire) 189 Atlantic 872, 88 NH 368, an action against the driver of a bus for the death of a school child which was struck by an automobile after alighting from a bus and while crossing the highway the court said:

“The plaintiff’s exception to the failure of the court to charge that ‘a carrier of passengers is bound to exercise the highest degree of care and diligence,’ is without merit. Even a common carrier is not held to such a high standard and the defendant here was only a private carrier. As such, ordinary care under all the circumstances was all that was required of him.”

In the case of *Archuleta v. Jacobs*, 94 P2d 706 a New Mexico case, an action was brought for the wrongful death of a child who was struck by an automobile after alighting from a school bus. The trial court had instructed the jury as follows: “And in connection with these definitions you are instructed that the driver of a school bus transporting children of tender age owes to them the greatest degree of care for their safety, and such course of conduct should extend from the time the children board such bus, and during their transportation to their destination, and including the alighting therefrom by such children under circumstances to insure their safety and leaving the immediate scene of the bus stop. . . .” The appellate court held:

“We cannot escape the conclusion that this instruction of the court cast upon defendant an undue burden, and that this constitutes reversible error. It cannot be said that the law may apply to the conduct of the plaintiff’s deceased the rule of ‘ordinary care’ only, and then say, as was said in substance, in these instructions, that as to defendant, his conduct must be such that everything ‘possible to be done’ must be done by him to avoid injury to the deceased, if he is to escape liability.”

B. The Court Correctly Instructed the Jury on the Duty Owed to Children.

There is no question that the operator of a school bus owes a greater or higher duty of care to children of a tender age than would he owe to adults under similar circumstances. The standard of care of a reasonable and prudent person is a variable factor depending upon the circumstances of each case. As is said in *Archuleta v. Jacobs*, cited above:

“Of course we know that the amount or degree of diligence and caution which is necessary to constitute due, reasonable or ordinary care changes with changing conditions, and we find wide variations according as circumstances in some instances require greater vigilance and caution than in others (Citations) and yet the law has found the foregoing and universally approved definitions sufficiently flexible and reliable for use as a guide in all such cases.”

“It is also true, of course, that the age of a child and its ability to look out for itself and capacity to appreciate danger are always a proper matter for consideration for determining whether proper care has been exercised as to such child.

Conduct that might easily qualify as ordinarily and prudent care as to a child of one age, and with capacity to understand and appreciate danger, might easily fall short of such classification with reference to a child of more tender years and of less understanding and appreciation of danger. (Citations given) And yet, we still measure the care required by the one standard, viz., 'What would a reasonably prudent man do under like circumstances?' "

As was said in *Cartright v. Graves*, 184 SW 2nd 373, in which a child was not quite six years of age:

"That the age of a child and his consequent ability or lack of ability to look after her own safety after alighting from the bus is, as declared as a court of appeals, 'the dominant factor.' "

The court quoting from *Townsley v. Yellow Cab Company*, 145 Tennessee 91, 237 SW 58, went on to say:

"Years ago in *Wheley v. Whitman*, one Head (610), 38 Tenn. 610, this court expressly approved *Robinson v. Cone*, 22 Vt. 213, 54 Am. Dec. 67, to the effect that children of tender age are entitled to a degree of care from others proportioned to their ability to foresee and avoid the perils which they may encounter, and holding that—'What would be but ordinary neglect in regard to one whom the defendants supposed a person of full age and capacity, would be gross neglect as to a child, or one known to be incapable of escaping danger.' "

In the present case the court gave three instructions defining the standard which the jury should apply in determining the duty of the defendant in regard to the plaintiff. In Instruction No. 9 (Tr. 225) the jury was in-

structed that the defendant was required to use such care as a reasonable and prudent person would use *under like conditions and circumstances*. In Instruction No. 4 (Tr. 221) negligence was defined as the doing of some act which a reasonable and prudent person *having due regard for the surrounding circumstances* would not do or the failure to do some act which a reasonable and prudent person having a regard for *all the surrounding circumstances would do*. It was further defined as failure to use that degree of care which a reasonable and prudent person in like or similar circumstances would use. In Instruction No. 5 (Tr. 222) the jury was instructed that in determining whether or not the defendant used reasonable care they should take into consideration *the number and ages of his passengers, the type of a vehicle he was operating, the place at which and the position in which he stopped the vehicle, the conditions of the weather, the conditions of the surface of the ground on which plaintiff alighted from the bus, and any and all facts and circumstances shown by the evidence effecting the care which reasonable and prudent person under like conditions would use*.

It is submitted that the jury were properly instructed as to the standard which they should apply in determining the duty of the defendant toward the plaintiff and the elements, including the tender age of the plaintiff, which they should take into consideration in defining that duty.

C. The Instruction Requested by Defendant if not Improper would add nothing to the Instruction given by Court.

The phrase "high degree of care," or "highest degree of care," or any similar expressions, as contended for in counsel's brief, mean nothing more than "the care that an ordinarily prudent person would exercise under all the facts and circumstances."

"The test of care is not whether in degree it should be slight or ordinary or extreme care, but commensurate care, due care under the circumstances."

Cates v. Hall, (N.C.) 88 S.E. 524;

Fitzgerald v. R. R. Co., (N.C.) 54 S.E. 91.

"The law of negligence is not based upon the highest degree of care which a highly prudent person would use, but on the average reasonable care—the degree of care that twelve men selected at random from the vicinage, will say is reasonable under all the circumstances."

Spanknebel v. R.R. Co., 111 N.Y.S. 705, 707.

In Union Traction Co. v. Berry, (Ind.) 121 N. E. 655, the court gives a very clear exposition of the principles with respect to the standard of care in negligence cases. To quote:

"As bearing on the issue of negligence the court gave the following instruction: 'If you find from the evidence in this case that on and about the 23rd day of May, 1914, the defendant was a common carrier of passengers, then I instruct you that it was held to the highest degree of care and diligence for the safety of passengers consistent with the mode of conveyance employed, and that the omission of the defendant to exercise the highest degree of practicable care constituted negligence on its part.'"

“By the first part of this instruction, preceding the conjunction ‘and,’ the court undertakes to define the duty which the law imposes on appellant as a carrier of passengers, and by the latter part the court attempts to direct the jury as to the application of the rule to the case on trial. Objection is made to this instruction on the ground that it invades the province of the jury, the objection being specifically directed to the latter part, but this part is so closely connected in meaning with what precedes it as to require a consideration of the instruction as a whole. By this instruction the court told the jury, in substance, that the law imposed a different and a higher duty on carriers of passengers with reference to the exercise of care than rested on persons or corporations sustaining other relations involving the exercise of care.”

“In the case of *Bedford, S. O. & B. R. Co. v. Rainbolt*, 99 Ind. 551, 9 Am. Neg. Cas. 277, the court said: ‘The rule that there may be degrees of negligence has long ago been discarded in this state, and, when it is said that an occurrence came about through the slight negligence or gross negligence of another, it is, in either case, nothing more than saying that such person was negligent.’”

“Negligence is the neglect or violation of the duty to use care. If there can be no degrees of negligence, it must follow that there can be no degrees of duty. Duty is an absolute term. The law requires nothing more than duty; it will excuse nothing less. The duty to exercise care for the safety of another arises as a matter of law out of some relation existing between the parties, and it is the province of the court to determine whether such a relation is shown as gives rise to such duty. In determining whether the relation shown

gives rise to a duty to use care, the court decides a pure question of law. This question cannot be submitted to a jury. Where a duty to exercise care exists, it is always the same, regardless of the nature of the relation out of which it arises. It cannot be said that the duty to use care which arises out of the court to carrier and passenger differs in kind, character, or degree from the duty which arises out of the relation of master and servant, or out of any other relation which imposes the legal duty to use care.

“In submitting the determination to a jury of a question of negligence, which is a mixed question of law and fact, the court is required to define the duty which the law imposes. This duty is defined by the law as ‘due care,’ ‘ordinary care,’ or ‘reasonable care,’ which terms are regarded by the courts as having the same significance. It is also the duty of the court to state the rule fixing the standard of care which will measure up to the duty imposed by law. The court should then leave it to the jury to decide whether the acts and conduct of the defendant in respect to the matter before the court measures up to the standards of care fixed by the law. In defining the duty and fixing the standard of care by which the jury is to measure the conduct of the defendant, the court does not consider the facts of the particular case. The duty is the same under all relations, and the standard of care which will measure up to the duty in all cases is such care as a person of reasonable or ordinary prudence would exercise in view of all the conditions and circumstances as disclosed by the evidence in the particular case. It is for the jury to consider the conditions and circumstances disclosed by the evidence, in determining what action should have been taken or

avoided, what precautions should have been employed, and what course of conduct should have been pursued in order to measure up to the duty of 'due care' which the law imposes. In determining this fact the jury applies the standard furnished by the court, which is, What would a person of ordinary prudence have regarded as reasonably necessary or proper under the circumstances?"

* * *

"The use of such terms as 'slight care,' 'great care,' 'highest degree of care,' or other like expressions, in instructions, as indicating the quantum of care the law exacts under special conditions and circumstances, is misleading; and when so used they constitute an invasion of the province of the jury, whose function it is to determine what amount of care is required to measure up to the duty imposed by law under the facts of the particular case. The law imposes but one duty in such cases, and that is the duty to use due care; and the law recognizes only one standard by which the quantum of care can be measured, and that is the care which a person of ordinary prudence would exercise under like circumstances."

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION 7 TO THE EFFECT THAT THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF JURORS MUST AGREE UPON THE SAME NEGLIGENT ACT OR ACTS OR OMISSIONS TO ACT IN ORDER TO RETURN A VERDICT IN PLAINTIFF'S FAVOR.

In Point Two of the argument the appellant objects to the court's instruction No. 7 (Tr. 224) wherein the court instructed the jury that the required number of jurors must agree upon the same negligent act or acts or upon the same failure to act but that it is not necessary

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